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INTRODUCTION.

R. FARREN'S charming etchings might well be published without any letterpress what-
ever. As, however, most of them represent buildings in or near Cambridge, it has
occurred to me that their value might be increased by the addition of a few historical
and illustrative notes, I propose, therefore, to go through the series, as nearly as
possible in the order in which they occur, and to give, very briefly, such dates and

other particulars as appear likely to enhance their value as memorials in these days
of energetic and often ill-advised restoration. The etchings will be referred to by the numbers prefixed
to them in the Table of Contents.

Mr. Farren sclects his first subjects from the most ancient part of Cambridge—the steep street that
mounts the eminence on the left bank of the Cam, where, at the junction of the Akeman Street and the
Via Devana, stood the Roman station Camboritum. This part of the town is still popularly spoken of as
the Burg or Borough. Here, near the foot of the so-called Castle Hill—which has nothing whatever to do
with the Castle, but was probably a British earthwork—but on the opposite side of the street, is an Inn
called * The Swan' (1), still preserving its medieval characteristics ; and just below it, on the same side of
the street, in a churchyard elevated by the accumulations of centurics, stands the little church of S. Peter and
S. Paul. The Roman bricks that may still be detected in its walls indicate the nature of the structures
that formerly occupied this part of Cambridge. The existing church was consecrated in 1349, but the
south porch is Norman. The tower and spire are in the Decorated style. As we descend Castle Street,
which, when it reaches the level ground is called Bridge Street (Fromfispicce), we come on the right hand
to Fisher's Lane (2), leading to a quay along the river bank, the last of the many ‘hythes' that once
existed when the Cam was the principal highway along which merchandise was brought to Cambridge.
In the background are the towers and the central lanthorn of the New Court of S. John's College, designed
by Messrs. Rickman and Hutchinson, and commenced in 1827 Having traversed ‘ The Great Bridge’
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Street at the Round Church, and proceeding along what was anciently High Street, we find, on the left

hand soon after passing the Great Gate of Trinity College, one of the few unaltered ancient houses in the

central part of Cambridge,—now Messrs. Foster's Bank (4). It became the property of their family in
1795 ; but previously had been the ¢ Turk’s Coffee House, kept by Jordan. The name was probably taken
from the more famous ¢ Turk’s Head Coffee House’ in London. There were several such establishments
in Cambridge in the cighteenth century, to which it was the custom to resort after the early dinner in Hall;
and, if Fame lies not, coffee was not the only beverage supplied. Newspapers were taken in, and amuse.
ments of various kinds provided, to the great indignation of the more precise portion of the University,
who held that idleness and dissipation were encouraged by these perilous innovations.
P & P

From this picturesque old house we continue our walk along Trumpington Street, until, just after
passing King’s College, we see on the left the ancient Church of S. Benedict, whose massive tower (7)
is the oldest architectural remain in Cambridge. The walls are about three feet thick, strengthened at the
quoins externally by thin blocks of hewn stone, laid flac and set up on their ends in regular alternate
courses—an arrangement to which the name of “long-and-short work” has been given.  This peculiarity
is faithfully shewn in Mr, Farren's etching. The tower is in three stories, each somewhat smaller
than that below it; and in the uppermost story only there are coeval windows, of the rudest and phmmt
deseription. The window in the lowest story is of late Decorated work; and the north and south w
are modern, at least externally. As we proceed along Trompington Street, we come, opposite to the corner
of Silver Street, to the Church of S. Botolph. The view thence, looking™ back, is smgularl).' picturesque
(7)- On the left are the fine old trees, planted probably about 17354, in front of S, Catharine's Cone.ge.
and the distance is closed by the Chapel of King's College. On the right is the front of Corpus Chnsti
College, the least unfortunate of the works of Wilkins; and in the immediate foreground on the samc. side
the picturesque tower of S. Botolph's, a-large and spacious chureh, built throughout i ‘the Perpendllc{u‘lar
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Decorated architecture, erected probably in the latter part of the reign of Edward the Second. The
original plan, consisting of a chancel, nave, two aisles, with north and south chapels respectively, and a
western tower, remains uninjured by any subsequent additions, repairs, er even mutilations of importance.

The roof of the nave, which had been destroyed, has lately been raised to the original pitch, which was
indicated by the weathermold on the tower. Under the casternmost of the two arches by which the

chapel on the south side opens into the aisle, is a high tomb (18), surmounted by a beautiful and richly
ornamented ogee arch, under which lies the full-sized mailed effigy in brass of Sir Roger de Trumpington,
one of the oldest as well as one of the most perfect in
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occupies the site of a Roman station.  Roman bricks have been found in great numbers, and there is a
well-marked Roman encampment. There was also a cemetery which was evidently once of great extent, for
many ancient coffins may still be seen, built into the walls of the church and churchyard. It is probably
to this place that Bede refers, when he relates how Sexburga, sister of Etheldreda, foundress of Ely, sent
to seek a marble sarcophagus fit to contain the Saint's remains. “The brethren whom she sent,” said the
historian, * took ship and came to a certain ruined town at no great distance, which in the English tongue
is called Grantacwstir; there presently they found, hard by the walls, a white marble coffin, exquisitely
wrought, with a Iid of the same material.” The Church, of which Mr. Farren has drawn the north side
(21), is dedicated 1o S. Mary and S. Andrew. The chancel is late Decorated, the nave and tower Per-
pendicular.  This Jater portion was probably built by John Fordham, Bishop of Ely 1388-1426, for his
arms are to be seen on the tower. It is not, however, to archmological considerations that Grantchester
church and éhurchyard owe their celebrity; but to the picturesqueness of the situation, and the air of calm
repose that seems to possess the shady nooks and the ancient yew hedges that there abound. In conse-
quence many members of the University, especially those who have died young, have chosen to be buried
there. They had admired it in their walks, and they selected it as their last resting place, preferring

“To rest beneath the clover sod
That takes the sunshine and the rains;
Or where the kneeling hamlet drains
The chalice of the grapes of God"

to a grave in the crowded cemetery of 2 populous town.
On the south-west side of the church is the ancient Manor house (20), a regular ‘moated grange.’

The house was probably built in the reign of James the First, and part of the moat, with the boundary
wall of old and peculiar brickwork, may still be traced.

If we now return to Cambridge, and start afresh from the Market Place along the ancient street
called Petty Cury, we soon come on the right to the narrow alley called ‘The Falcon Yard' (6), as close
and gloomy as one of the bye-streets of a continental town. The Inn, though much altered and now used
as a shop, is still easily distinguishable by the floors that successively overhang each other, and the lofty
gables, The long galleries, once part of the house, are tolerably complete, though broken up into several
dwellings. The ‘Falcon’ was an Inn in Queen Mary’s reign; and Pepys, who liked good cheer as well
as most men, selected it when he visited Cambridge in 1660. At that time it was probably the best Inn
in the town. The * Wrestlers’ (5)—another Inn, a little further down the street—is a far more important
structure, with a richly ornamented front (I. Oid houses in Petly Cury), in three floors, sub-divided by wide
projecting cornices and surmounted by three gables. The carving of the pilasters that sub-divide the front,
and of the jambs of some of the windows, is rich and beautiful. Mr. Farren has etched the interior of the
yard, with the decrepid oricls at the back of the gorgeous front, and the picturesque plaster-work which
survives, or which did survive until a short time since,
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From the Petty Cury we will suppose a wisitor to proceed across Christ's Picces into the o at

leads through Barnwell to Newmarket. As he turns into the road he will see, at the corner of the wide

common which stretches to the river, the Chapel and Buildings of Jesus College. Mr. Farren has shewn
(Dedication) the eastern triplet of the chapel, anciently the church~ of the Benedictine nunnery of
S. Rhadegund ; the north aisle, rebuilt on ancient foundations in 1847; and the tower, the upper stage of
which wa; built by Bishop Alcock of Ely, founder of the College, about 15c0. On the left is the tower
of All Saints’ Church. It had stood opposite Trinity College from very ancient times; but in 1839 it was
determined to pull it down and rebuild it on its present site after a design by Mr. Bodley. The new
church was erected by subscription,and the graceful spire was the result of special donations. If the visitor
now walks along the road castward he soon arrives at the site of the great Augustinian Priory of Barn-
well, conspicuous by shapeless mounds of grass extending nearly to the river. The house which Mr. Farren
has drawn (12) was probably commenced soon after the Dissclution, as the residence of the successive
possessors of the sequestered estate. The conventual buildings were used as a quarry, so long as any
walls remained above ground; and even the foundations are said to have been diligently excavated for the
same purpose. As an instance of what was done it may be mentioned that when the chapel of Corpus
Christi College was built in 1379, Mr. Wendy, the then impropriator, sent 182 loads of stone from the
Abbey, and by a refinement of cruelty, * Father Tibbelds,” one of the late monks there, was employed to
deliver them. One fragment only of the conventual buildings remains, now used as a coach-house (13).
Externally it is plain enough, but internally it has a groined roof, supported on slender columns. Future
excavations may possibly determine to what portion of the Abbey this interesting structure originally
belonged. Between the ruins and the road stands the little Church of S, Andrew the Less (13), which Mr.
Farren calls the Aébey Church. This it cerwinly was not, for there is ample proof that that structure
stood to the nerth of it, and was of size proportionate to a large and opulent monastery. It was more
probably built for the use of the viliage that sprang up round the walls of the monastery. The general style
is Early English, with a few additions in the Perpendicular style. It was restored by the Cambridge
Architectural Society in 1854. , )

The road we are supposed to be traversing presently leaves on the right Coldham’s Common (o), a
name of which the origin is lost in remote antiquity. It is bounded eastward by the Stour, a stream
which rises in a pool at the foot of the chalk hills of Cherryhinton, and falls into the Cam just below
Barnwell. A forturate accident has preserved the name of these waters from oblivion. Just beyond Cold-
bam’s Common the road crosses the Stour by a bridge called Stourbridge, which gives its name to the
Chapel (II. Stourbridge Chapel), and the Common (11), between the road and the Cam. The former, dedicated
to S. Mary Magdalene, is a small, but very curious and interesting Norman building, said to have been
originally attached to a Hospital of Lepers. Until a few years ago it was desecrated, and used to keep
the lumber of the neighbouring Fair in. The latter, one of the greatest marts of the Middle Ages, was
held annually at the beginning of September. Though it was not destitute of the usual amusements of
such gatherings, the main object of it was serious trading; and a study of Collegiate Account-books shews
that most important purchases of goods of all kinds were made at it. It was sub-divided like one of the
large continental fairs at the present day, and the names of the rows of booths indicated the wares to be
bought in them, such as Garlick Row, Booksellers' Row, Cook Row, and the like.

“Here,” said an historian writing while the Fair still existed in all its glory, “are all sorts of traders, who sell by
wholesale or retail, as goldsmiths, toymen, brasiers, turners, milliners, haberdashers, hatters, mercers, drapers, pewterers,
china-warchouses, and, in a word, most trades that can be found in London; from whence many of them come; here
are also taverns, coffee-houses, and cating-houses in great plenty, and all kept in booths, except six or seven brick houses -

Luilt many years ago, and in any of which you may at any time be accommodated with hot or cold rc goose, roast
or boiled pork, etc.” e

About two miles and a half down the Cam, and on the right bank, we come to the village of
Fen Ditton (16), so called to distinguish it from Wood Ditton, on the high ground near Newmarket



about seven miles to the east. Both derive their name of Ditton from the neighbourhood of one of

the great boundary ditches which form so remarkable a feature of Eastern Cambridgeshire.  Wood
Ditton is close to ‘The Devil's Dyke’; Fen Ditton to ‘The Fleam Dyke” This extraordinary work,

which in the best preserved portion measures about twenty feet from the top of the rampart to the bottom
of the ditch, probably began close to the River Cam. It may still be traced from a point necar to
the river in a south-easterly direction to Wilbraham Fen, where it ceased, the fen forming a sufficient
defence without it, but on the other side of the marshy ground it begins again, and terminates on the high
ground near Balsham. It was, therefore, a line of defence drawn from the woodlands across an open chalky
district to the Fens. As Professor Babington has well pointed out—

“It must be remembered that at the ancient period when these ditches were made, the fens consisted probably of a
series of islands surrounded by morasses and lakes, although not so wet as they became in the Middle Ages, from the
silting up of the out-falls of the rivers which pass through them; that a nearly detached piece of fen, like that at
Wilbraham, was almost always flooded; and that the Cam and other rivers ran for many miles through a continuous
though often narrow, line of marshes. If then a fortification was made extending from the edge of the fen, or of the
fenny banks of the Cam, or one of its tributaries, across the open belt of country until it rcached the extensive
woodlands lying towards the south-cast, a very perfect security would be obtained against the cattle-driving propensities
of the neighbours of those who made the ditch”

The parish Church of S. Mary the Virgin, of which Mr. Farren shews the south side (17), was
originally in the Early English style, to which the tower and part of the north aisle of the nave may be

referred. The chancel, which had an ancient lead roof whean he drew it, is of Decorated work. The Manor
house ;(!6) was formerly the seat of Thomas Wills, Esquire, to whom King James the First granted the
manor in 1605. Much of the house is evidently of that date. p
Between four and five miles to the south-cast of Fen Ditton, in the parish of Bottisham, are the
remains of the Augustinian Abbey of Anglesea, founded in the reign of Henry the First (1100—1135), in
honour of the Virgin and S. Nicholas. This house, with those of Barnwell and Thorney;, were the most
influentizl in Cambridgeshire down to the Dissolution. As too often happens, the name of the abbey has
been transferred to the manor house which has taken its place (7adle of Confents). Mr. Farren's view is
taken from the north-ecast, and shews the east end with its Early English buttresses, and the east side of
the north wing. The manor house was constructed in the reign of Queen Elizabeth, on the site of some
of the monastic buildings. Part of the east wing has been identified with the chapter-house, and part of
the north wing with the cloister, erected in 1236. The house was admirably restored in 1860 by the
Rev. John Hailstone, the greatest care being taken to preserve as much as possible of the ancient features.
Nearly opposite to Ditton, in a commanding situation on the left bank of the Cam, is Chesterton,
conspicuous by the lofty and graceful spire of 5. Andrew’s Church (15). The village probably derives its
name from the ancient camps called respectively ‘ Arbury’ and ‘ The King's Hedges,' both in the parish, on
the north and south sides of the highway called ‘The Akeman Street” In the Middle Ages the priors of
Barnwell had a mansion there, of which a picturesque ruin in the vicarage grounds is supposed to have
formed a part (14). The church is a fine specimen of the Decorated style, with the exception of a few unim-
portant additions in Perpendicular times. The rectory once belonged to the Abbey of S. Andrea at Vercelli
in North Italy. It had been given to that house in 1238, by Henry the Third, during his minority, but
under what circumstances we are not informed. A century later (18 December, 1440) the Warden of
King's Hall obtained a donation of it from Henry the Sixth. The detils of the transfer offer a curious
illustration of the legal prolixities of those times. They are written out in a parchment roll, preserved in
the archives of Trinity College, 67 feet long by 15 inches wide, containing 24 skins of vellum. The
proceedings began 12 October, 1442, and lasted until 21 January, 1444: and when we compare the then
value of the rectory with the cost of acquiring it, which amounted to nearly £2000 at the present value
of money, it may well be questioned whether the Society of King's Hall ever derived any substantial

benefit from the gift.
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The road from Cambridge to Chesterton (9) commands a striking view of the town. At our feet is
the river, and across the green meadow called Midsummer Common we see the spire of S. Clement's
Church, the new Chapel of S. John's College, and the tower of the University Church.

We have now to mention, very briefly, the churches of five villages, all situated near Cambridge .
Cherryhinton to the south-east; Impington and Histon to the north; and Coton and Madingley to the
west.  S. Andrew’s at Cherryhinton (/nfroduction) is a beautiful specimen of the Early English style, of pure
character and well-executed detail. The chancel and nave are of the above period, but the north and
south aisles, the west tower, and the porch, are late Perpendicular additions. The nave was most
judiciously restored in 1880. S. Andrew’s at Impington (22) is a small church in the Decorated style,
with an east window of later work. S. Andrew’s at Histon (23), a neighbouring village, is large and
spacious, consisting of chancel, transepts, nave, and aisles. It was evidently built originally in the Early
English style, but has in subsequent times been much altered. In the north transept there is a very
beautiful Early English piscina, of a design almost exactly similar to the one in the chapel of Jesus College.
S. Peter's at Coton (24) was originally in the Norman style, as the small round-headed windows in the
chancel shew; but as time went on, and wealth accumulated, the nave was pulled down and rebuilt in
the Decorated style. The work was not concluded until the Perpendicular had come into fashion, as the
tower and spire shew. S. Mary's at Madingley (25) is a small and not particularly interesting church, so
far as its architecture is concerned; but its churchyard is the most picturesque in the county, shut in with
lofty yew-trees, and like that at Grantchester, often chosen by members of the University as a burial-place.
In the front of the picture, which shews the north side of the church, Mr. Farren has drawn the lake
which lies in front of the Hall, and the bridge by which it is crossed. The Hall is a fine mansion of the
Tudor period, built by Mr. Justice Hinde in the reign of King Henry the Eighth.

At the bottom of the plate Mr. Farren has drawn the mill on the top of Madingley Hill. The view,
on a clear day, is very extensive, Ely Cathedral being distinctly visible. Although some may complain that
the landscape is too flat to be picturesque, yet it must be admitted that what it loses in variety is
compensated for by richness; while the shifting clouds and changing lights give rise to endless effects
of colour,

JOHN WILLIS CLARK.

LY

ADDITIONAL PLATES NOT INCLUDED IN THE TABLE OF CONTENTS:
I. Old houses in Petty Cury (before Imtroduction).
II. Stourbridge Chapel (defore Dedication),
III. Hall, Anglesca Abbey (before Table of Contents).
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